1984

Veyo Concrete Products, Inc. and State Insurance Fund v. Industrial Commission of Utah, And Second Injury Fund : Brief of Appellants

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a worker's compensation case involving Second Injury Fund. The issues in this case involve: first, the proper construction of Section 35-1-69, U.C.A.; second, whether the Administrative Law Judge committed error in discounting the applicant's pre-existing conditions; and third, what effect, if any, a Statement and Request agreement between State Insurance Fund and the applicant has regarding State Insurance Fund's right to reimbursement from Second Injury Fund.

DISPOSITION BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

A hearing was held September 20, 1982, in St. George, Utah, before an Administrative Law Judge of the Industrial Commission on an application of Frederick J. Paulus for worker's compensation benefits for an industrial injury which occurred on August 12,

1978. (R, 24) Applicant Paulus claimed benefits based on injuries he sustained to his back and shoulders in a truck accident while driving as an employee of Veyo Concrete Products, Inc., of Veyo, Utah. The Administrative Law Judge entered his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order on February 7, 1983, holding, among other things, that State Insurance Fund was liable for all medical and temporary total disability compensation payments. (R, 215-216)

Defendant State Insurance Fund filed a Motion for Review on February 23, 1983, requesting that the Order be amended to hold that there should be a reimbursement from Second Injury Fund to State Insurance Fund of 7/13ths of amounts paid on temporary total and medical compensation. Applicant Paulus also submitted a Motion for Review on February 25, 1983, arguing other issues.

On May 17, 1983, the Industrial Commission issued a Denial of Motions for Review, in which it upheld the Administrative Law Judge's Order. (R, 235-236)

Writ of Review was granted by the Utah Supreme Court on June 17, 1983. Appellants now submit their brief in this matter.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Applicants request that the Order of the Commission be reversed and remanded. The Commission should be instructed to order Second Injury Fund to make reimbursement to State Insurance Fund on the basis of a 7/13 proportion.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The basic facts in this case are not in dispute and

may be recounted briefly. Frederick J. Paulus was injured on August 12, 1978, when the truck that he was driving blew a left front tire. The truck rolled onto the median, and Mr. Paulus was thrown through the windshield and pinned under the back axle. The accident occurred on I-15 in southern Nevada. At the time, Mr. Paulus was an employee of Veyo Concrete Products, Inc., of Veyo, Utah. (R, 12-13)

Mr. Paulus apparently sustained several injuries including a laceration on the right side of his forehead, back injury, and injury to both shoulders. (R, 3) Applicant Paulus underwent surgery in Cedar City for his left shoulder in November of 1978. The surgery was performed by Ross McNaught, M.D. Mr. Paulus underwent a similar surgical procedure on the right shoulder on February 5, 1979. On March 26, 1979, the left shoulder was repaired a second time. In October of 1979, Mr. Paulus had further problems with his left shoulder; and Dr. McNaught performed further surgery on the left shoulder in November of 1979. (R, 194-195; 210-211)

On September 11, 1980, applicant Paulus signed a Statement and Request settlement with State Insurance Fund, receiving a rating of 4% permanent partial impairment of the whole man for his shoulders. (R, 9)

In December 1980, Mr. Paulus went to work as a truck driver for a Mr. Jim Andrus. In March, 1981, during this employment, Mr. Paulus was on his trucking job for Andrus at Los Angeles when his back went out. He was bent over and could not straighten

up. His partner had to drive the truck back to St. George. Mr. Paulus described the pain as being in approximately the same place as the pain he had had in his back when he first hurt his back in the truck accident of August 12, 1978. After some physical therapy, Mr. Paulus returned to work in about two or three weeks. (R, 51-57, 211)

In July, 1981, while still working for Andrus, Mr. Paulus reinjured his back while unloading 55-gallon drums in Salt Lake City. He was examined by Dr. Mortenson, a neurosurgeon in Cedar City, and again put on physical therapy. Mr. Paulson again returned to work after about three weeks. (R, 58-61, 211-212)

A hearing on the matter was held in St. George on September 20, 1982, before an Administrative Law Judge of the Industrial Commission. The medical questions were referred to a medical panel for evaluation. (R, 184-188) The findings of the medical panel were adopted by the Administrative Law Judge as his own in his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, issued February 7, 1983. (R, 210-216) The conclusions of the medical panel are set out in full in the Appendix I, attached hereto.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE UTAH STATE INSURANCE FUND IS ENTITLED TO REIMBURSEMENT FROM SECOND INJURY FUND FOR 7/13THS OF AMOUNTS PAID, UNDER SECTION 35-1-69 U.C.A., BECAUSE APPLICANT'S PERMANENT PARTIAL IMPAIRMENT RESULTING FROM HIS INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT WAS SUBSTANTIALLY GREATER THAN IT WOULD HAVE BEEN BUT FOR HIS PRE-EXISTING INCAPACITY.

Section 35-1-69, U.C.A., was amended in 1981; but it is the pre-1981 version of this Section which applies in the present case as the accident in the course of Mr. Paulus' employment occurred in August of 1978. U.S.F. & G. v. Industrial Commission, Utah, 657 P.2d 764, 768 (1983). At the time of applicant Paulus's August 1978 injuries, Section 35-1-69, U.C.A. (1953, as amended), read in pertinent part:

(1) if any employee who has previously incurred a permanent incapacity by accidental injury, disease, or congenital causes, sustains an industrial injury for which compensation and medical care is provided by this title that results in permanent incapacity which is substantially greater than he would have incurred had he not had the pre-existing incapacity, compensation and medical care, which medical care and other related items are outlined in Section 35-1-81, shall be awarded on the basis of the combined injuries, but the liability for the employer for such compensation and medical care shall be for the industrial injury only and the remainder shall be paid out of the special fund provided for Section 35-1-68(1) hereinafter referred to as the "special fund" (emphasis added) (The entire pre-1981 amendment Section is attached hereto as Appendix II)

In dispute is the meaning and application of the phrase underlined above.

The Utah Supreme Court has had occasion to review the pre-1981 version of this provision a number of times. McPhie v. United States Steel Corp., Utah, 551 P.2d 504 (1976); Intermountain Health Care Inc., v. Ortega, Utah, 562 P.2d 617 (1977); White v. Industrial Commission, Utah, 604 P.2d 478 (1979); and Intermountain Smelting Corp. v. Capitano, Utah, 610 P.2d 334 (1980).

The Utah Supreme Court clarified this provision in

Intermountain Healthcare, Inc. v. Ortega, supra. In that case the claimant had a pre-existing psychological condition relating to pain in her back. The Commission found that the claimant had a permanent partial disability of 30%, 10% attributable to her pre-existing psychological condition and 20% attributable to an accident which occurred while on the job. The Commission, failed however, to require the Second Injury Fund to pay its proportionate share of medical expenses and the temporary total disability compensation. The Utah Supreme Court held that Section 35-1-69 required the Second Injury Fund to pay 1/3rd of the medical expenses and temporary total disability compensation, because 1/3rd of the employee's permanent partial disability was attributable to her pre-existing condition. In coming to this decision, the Utah Supreme Court stated:

The requirement that the pre-existing condition combines with the later injury to cause a "substantially greater" permanent incapacity does not mean that the former must be greater than the later. It simply means that it be some definite and measurable portion of the causation of the disability. It surely cannot be doubted that 30% is substantially greater than 20%, nor that 10% disability is itself substantial in that it is definite and measurable. Consequently, inasmuch as it appears that the pre-existing condition increased the resulting disability by one-third, it follows that under the requirements of the statute, the medical expenses as well as the compensation award should have been apportioned two-thirds from the employer and one-third from the special fund. (emphasis added) 562 P.2d at 619.

The Ortega decision has not been overruled or modified since, so the above-quoted standard must be viewed as a valid

interpretation of Section 35-1-69.

In the present case, the Administrative Law Judge adopted the findings of the medical panel. The medical panel concluded that applicant Paulus's total physical impairment from all causes was 13%; 7 of the 13% was due to pre-existing causes, which consisted of a left knee impairment of 2% and a low-back impairment of 5%. Thus, under the Ortega standard, Mr. Paulus's permanent incapacity is "substantially greater than he would have incurred if he had not had the pre-existing incapacity." In the language of Ortega, it surely cannot be doubted that 13% is substantially greater than 6% (that attributable to the industrial accident) nor that a 7% disability (that attributable to pre-existing condition) is itself substantial in that it is definite and measurable. Consequently, inasmuch as it appears that the pre-existing condition increased the resulting incapacity by 7/13, it follows that under the requirement of the statute, the medical expenses as well as the temporary total compensation award should be apportioned 6/13ths from the employer and 7/13ths from Second Injury Fund.

The standard announced and applied in Ortega, is a simple additive analysis of the "substantially-greater requirement," rather than a causal analysis. That is, under Ortega, it is immaterial whether the pre-existing condition causes the permanent incapacity resulting from the industrial injury to be greater than it otherwise would be. Under Ortega, it is enough that the pre-existing incapacity adds to the permanent incapacity resulting from the industrial injury, so that the employee's

total permanent partial incapacity is significantly greater.

This analysis was recently confirmed in Kincheloe v. Coca-Cola Bottling Co. of Ogden, Utah, 656 P.2d 440 (1982). In Kincheloe, the Administrative Law Judge held that Second Injury Fund had no application. One of the Judge's reasons was that the claimant's 1980 industrial injury was "unrelated" to his prior incapacity from an injury in 1974. Commenting on this point, the Utah Supreme Court stated:

Under the reasoning of Capitano, the fact that the 1980 injury is unrelated to the 1974 injury is not dispositive. Irrespective of any causal connection, the Second Injury Fund is to compensate one who sustains "permanent incapacity which is substantially greater than he would have incurred if he had not had the pre-existing incapacity." 656 P.2d at 442 (note dropped, emphasis added).

This arrangement was later limited by the 1981 amendment to Section 35-1-69. Under part (b) of the second paragraph (added in the 1981 amendment) awards for combined injuries where there is no aggravation between the pre-existing condition and the industrial injury a percentage-impairment threshold was added. This provision, of course, does not apply to the present case, since the applicant's industrial injury occurred before the effective date of the 1981 amendment.

The analysis of Section 35-1-69 urged by appellants was also confirmed in White v. Industrial Commission, Utah, 604 P.2d 478 (1979). In White, the Court consolidated three cases, each of which depended upon judicial construction of Section 35-1-69. In each of the consolidated cases, the employee had

significant physical incapacity before he or she sustained the industrial injury. In two of the cases 50% of the applicant's permanent partial impairment was attributable to pre-existing conditions, the other half attributable to the industrial injury. In the third case, 75% of the total physical impairment of the applicant was attributable to the previously existing impairments and 25% was attributed to the industrial accident. In reviewing all three cases, the Utah Supreme Court merely noted the percentage amounts of pre-existing condition and impairments attributable to the industrial injuries. It did not discuss the nature of any of the injuries involved in any of the three cases nor did it discuss any possible causal relationships between pre-existing conditions and the later industrial injuries. Thus, looking only at the percentage amounts of pre-existing impairment and percentage amounts from the industrial injuries, the Supreme Court held that the Second Injury Fund was required to reimburse the insurance carrier for the proportion of medical expenses and temporary total disability compensation equal to the percentage of permanent partial disability applicable to the pre-existing injuries.

In the 1980 case of Intermountain Smelting Corp. v. Capitano, Utah, 610 P.2d 334, appellants' interpretation of Section 35-1-69 was again confirmed. In that case a construction worker severely injured his right ankle. The Commission adopted findings that the claimant had a 25% permanent partial disability, 16 1/2% attributable to a pre-existing injury to his left leg from

being shot in the service in Korea and 8 1/2% attributable to the industrial injury. In Capitano, the special fund (now Second Injury Fund) urged that it should not be required to bear any of the expenses, inasmuch as the claimant's pre-existing condition had nothing to do with the industrial injury. The Court expressly addressed this argument, first quoting Section 35-1-69 itself. The Court acknowledged that the interpretation offered by the special fund was "not entirely without logic and plausability", but noted that it is the Court's responsibility to interpret and apply the statute as it is written in accordance with its purpose. Accordingly, the Court concluded that the employer is responsible only for the percentage of compensation and medical care which the injury occurring in his employment bears to the applicant's total disability, the remainder to be paid out or reimbursed by the special fund. 610 P.2d at 336-337.

In support of his holding in his Findings of Fact, Conclusion of Law and Order, of February 7, 1983, the Administrative Law Judge cited the recent case of U.S.F. & G. v. Industrial Commission, Utah, 657 P.2d 764 (1983). (R, 215) A review of this case, however, does not appear to offer any guidance one way or the other as to the proper interpretation and application of the pre-1981 version of Section 35-1-69. First, the case comes in 1983 and considers Section 35-1-69 in its post-1981 amendment version. Second, insofar as it discusses Section 35-1-69 at all, the case merely restates the statute itself. The Court states:

Explicit statutory authority exists to apportion compensation awards and medical costs between employers and the Second Injury Fund, provided pertinent conditions are met. Basically, those conditions are three in number: 1) permanent incapacity occasioned by accidental injury, disease or congenital causes, followed by 2) subsequent injury resulting in further permanent incapacity which is 3) substantially greater than that which would have been incurred if there had been no pre-existing incapacity. 657 P.2d at 767.

This passage simply does not help determine the issue in the present case.

To summarize, the pre-1981 version of Section 35-1-69, as interpreted by the relevant case law, clearly supports appellants' contention that State Insurance Fund is entitled to reimbursement from Second Injury Fund for a portion of medical expenses and compensation based on the ratio of applicant Paulus's pre-existing impairment to the impairment he sustained in his industrial injury, in this case 7/13. The recent case cited by the Administrative Law Judge in his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, does not indicate anything to the contrary, nor does it support the Commission's holding.

POINT II

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE'S REASONING THAT ONE OF APPLICANT'S PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS PROVIDED NO BASIS FOR SECOND INJURY FUND AWARD WAS INCONSISTENT WITH THE PROPER CONSTRUCTION OF SECTION 35-1-69.

In his Order, the Administrative Law Judge took the view that all of Mr. Paulus's back problems either pre-existed his 1978 accident, or were the result of a natural, progressive degenerative condition. The Administrative Law Judge also adopted

the finding of the medical panel that there was no connection between Mr. Paulus's lower back problems and his industrial accident:

1. There is not a medically demonstrable causal connection between the low back problem complained of and the industrial accident. This man has had back symptoms as far back as 1975 and has had intermittent back symptoms since that time that in general have been progressively increasing. There is no evidence that any of the three accidents of 8-12-78, March 1981 or July 1981, have had any demonstrable lasting effect on his back condition. (R, 212)

It was with these adopted facts that the Administrative Law Judge offered one reason for not requiring the Second Injury Fund to participate in payment of medical expenses and compensation. His reasoning is as follows:

As to the 5% impairment to the back existing before August 1978, we have a more difficult question. The Administrative Law Judge finds that the applicant cannot recover from the Second Injury Fund for the 5% impairment of the back as it existed prior to the August 1978 injury for three reasons:

* * * * *

2. The second reason is simply that there can be no Second Injury Fund award since there is no new industrial injury or even a basis for an industrial award. . . . (R, 215)

The Administrative Law Judge's reasoning here apparently refers to Mr. Paulus's 5% permanent partial impairment from his pre-existing back condition. The fact that his industrial injury did not reinjure or aggravate his pre-existing back condition is irrelevant. As argued under Point I, no medical causal connection between the industrial injury and pre-existing conditions need

exist in order for Second Injury Fund to be liable for a portion of medical expenses and compensation. Following the Ortega standard, Mr. Paulus's pre-existing back condition was rateable at 5% and thus was a "definite and measurable portion of the causation of the disability" and most certainly even unrelated physical impairments can and do have an effect on an individual's overall employability that is the very thing that Second Injury Funds are designed to protect.

POINT III

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE ERRED IN MAINTAINING THAT ONE OF APPLICANT'S PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS WAS NOT REALLY A PERMANENT IMPAIRMENT.

In his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, the Administrative Law Judge stated:

2. The second reason is simply that there can be no Second Injury Fund award since there is no new industrial injury or even a basis for an industrial award. Though the panel found that the applicant had a 2% increase in impairment, this was not in reality a permanent increase since it could be corrected by minor surgery. (R, 215, emphasis added)

The Judge's statement concerning a 2% increase in impairment apparently refers to the 2% impairment of the left knee pre-existing the August 1978 accident. Whether this impairment is permanent or could be corrected by minor surgery, as asserted by the Administrative Law Judge, is not stated in the medical panel report. (R, 194-203) There is no evidence upon which the Commission could base such an opinion. The conclusion of the medical panel in this regard is found under the question asking about permanent

impairment and is answered as follows:

(5) b. There is a minor calcification of the proximal end of the medial collateral ligament of the left knee at its proximal end over the medial femoral condyle indicative of "Pelligrini-Stieda calcification of the left medial collateral ligament" related to his 1975 accident. This represents 5% impairment of the extremity or 2% impairment of the body. (R, 213-214)

The Administrative Law Judge simply erred on this point. The Judge's statement is purely speculative and not supported by any evidence in the case. The medical panel would not have rated it as a permanent impairment if it was not permanent. In the absence of conflicting medical evidence, the trier of fact cannot disregard the evidence of the Commission-appointed panel. In the present case, Mr. Paulus's knee condition resulted from a glider crash in 1975. (R, 199)

It should be noted that at point (9) in the medical panel report as adopted by the Administrative Law Judge, the medical panel rates Mr. Paulus's left shoulder at 4% permanent partial impairment but, at the same time, advises that future surgery might well be expected to reduce this impairment by 2%. In that instance, the Administrative Law Judge did have a conclusion of the medical panel that future medical procedure could reduce the percentage of impairment. Nevertheless, the Administrative Law Judge in his Order, accepts the left shoulder impairment as a 4% permanent partial impairment.

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