1984

Veyo Concrete Products, Inc. and State Insurance  
Fund v. Industrial Commission of Utah, And  
Second Injury Fund : Brief of Defendants Second  
Injury Fund & Industrial Commission

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a Writ of Review from an order of the Industrial Commission of Utah.

DISPOSITION BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

The defendants Second Injury Fund and Industrial Commission concur in the Statement of the Disposition contained in the brief of the plaintiff State Insurance Fund.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The defendants respectfully request that this court affirm the order of the Industrial Commission of Utah.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendants concur in the Statement of Facts contained in the brief of the plaintiff State Insurance Fund.

## ISSUE ON APPEAL

The issue on appeal is whether the State Insurance Fund, the Worker's Compensation Carrier, is entitled to a reimbursement from the defendant Second Injury Fund for medical expenses and temporary total disability benefits paid by the insurance carrier to the applicant Frederick Paulus on claims filed on several industrial accidents.

## ARGUMENT

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION CORRECTLY APPLIED THE UTAH WORKER'S COMPENSATION ACT TO HOLD THE PLAINTIFF STATE INSURANCE FUND LIABLE AS THE WORKER'S COMPENSATION INSURANCE CARRIER FOR ALL THE MEDICAL EXPENSES AND TEMPORARY DISABILITY BENEFITS FOR LOSS TIME FROM WORK AS A RESULT OF THE INDUSTRIAL INCIDENTS.

The plaintiff insurance company erroneously argues that based upon the current August 12, 1978 industrial accident, the employer's insurance carrier should be entitled to reimbursement from the defendant Second Injury Fund at 7/13ths or 53.8% of all medical and temporary disability benefits paid by the carrier on the 1978 industrial injuries because the injured worker had a

pre-existing condition, although the prior incapacities of the low back and (L) knee were found to be unrelated to the industrial injuries and the current industrial incapacity was not substantially greater than it would have been had the injured worker not had the pre-existing incapacities.

Based upon the record, the Administrative Law Judge specifically found that the current 1978 industrial incapacity was not made "substantially greater than" by the applicant's pre-existing condition:

" . . . Section 35-1-69, U. C. A., which says that the industrial injury must "result in permanent incapacity which is substantially greater than he would have incurred if he had not had the pre-existing incapacity." We cannot find in this case that the industrial injury resulted in a substantially greater permanent incapacity as a result of the pre-existing condition when a completely different part of the body is involved and the applicant at the time of the 1978 incident had no significant complaints or complications with either his back or his knee which parts of the body had the pre-existing problems noted by Dr. Holbrook. The recent Supreme Court case of USF&G v. Anderton, dated January 1983 breathed a new life into the "substantially greater" provision making it again a viable principal."  
Emphasis Added.

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, page six, dated February 7, 1983 (R. 215).

In the above entitled matter, the Industrial Commission of Utah has ruled that since the applicant's medical expenses and temporary disability benefits arose from the 1978 industrial event, the payment of such benefits was the exclusive responsibility of the employer or its insurance carrier, pursuant to Utah Code Ann., Sections 35-1-45, 69 and 81. The position taken by the Commission

is that before the plaintiff insurance carrier is entitled to any reimbursement against the defendant Second Injury Fund under Utah Code Ann., Section 35-1-69 for benefits paid to the injured worker on said accidents, the compensation insurance carrier is required to show that the pre-existing incapacities made the industrial injuries "substantially greater than" they would have been "but for" the previous incapacities. Day's Market Inc. v. Muir, 669 P.2d 440 (Utah 1983). See also. U. S. F. & G. v. Industrial Commission, 657 P.2d 764 (Utah 1983); Kincheloe v. Coca-cola Bottling Co. of Ogden, 656 P.2d 440 (Utah 1982).

This Court has set forth the test for involving the defendant Second Injury Fund under Section 69 as follows:

"Explicit statutory authority exists to apportion compensation awards and medical costs between employers and the Second Injury Fund, provided pertinent conditions are met. Basically, those conditions are three in number: 1) permanent incapacity occasioned by accidental injury, disease or congenital causes, followed by 2) subsequent (industrial) injury resulting in further permanent incapacity which is 3) substantially greater than that which would have been incurred had there been no pre-existing incapacity. . . The Commission is statutorily obligated to determine whether the subsequent injuries sustained . . . have resulted in further permanent incapacity which is substantially greater. . ."  
Emphasis Added.

U. S. F. & G. v. Industrial Commission, supra.

This Court conclusively resolved the issue of "substantially greater than" in Day's Market, Inc. v. Muir, supra. In Day's Market the Commission denied the insurance carrier reimbursement under Section 69 because the carrier had failed to show that the pre-existing

incapacity had the "effect" of substantially increasing the current industrial injury. The Court held:

(Second Injury) Fund's only application is where the current incapacity is substantially greater . . . this language requires a finding as to the effect the pre-existing incapacity has upon the current incapacity. Findings in the abstract as to the total pre-existing incapacity are of little assistance in making this determination, since the full responsibility falls upon the current employer (or carrier) unless it can be said that the current incapacity is substantially greater than it would have been "but for" the pre-existing incapacity.

Day's Market, Inc. v. Muir, 669 F.2d 440(Utah 1983).

This ruling requires a finding that the subsequent industrial injury was made substantially greater by the pre-existing incapacity. In U. S. F. & G. and Day's Market the Commission denied the worker's compensation insurance carrier any reimbursement from the defendant on the basis that the pre-existing condition did not make the industrial injuries substantially greater than they would have been otherwise. Very simply, the Commission denied reimbursement to the carriers because all of the medical and temporary disability benefits resulted from the industrial accidents only, which were the sole responsibility of the employer's insurance carrier.

This same logic applies in the instant case on the ground that the applicant's pre-existing incapacities did not contribute to or "effect" the need of medical treatment or temporary total disability caused by the industrial injury. In the case at bar,

The injured worker (Frederick J. Paulus) sustained multiple injuries to both his shoulders and head from an industrial accident occurring on August 12, 1978 when his truck lost control, left an embankment and flipped over (R. 31). The applicant was thrown from the vehicle and was pinned under the driving axle. He was immediately taken to the Southern Nevada Memorial Hospital for examination. Following the event he was treated by Dr. Neal C. Appel and Dr. D. Ross McNaught in Cedar City, Utah for problems in both the (R) and (L) shoulders. Due to the 1978 industrial accident the applicant underwent surgery for his left shoulder in November of 1978 (R. 210); surgery on his right shoulder in February of 1979 (R. 211); and then his left shoulder was re-operated on in 1979. There is no evidence in the record to show that the pre-existing conditions of the applicant's (L) knee or low back acted upon the (L) and (R) shoulder injuries to make them substantially greater than they would have been otherwise.

Based upon the above 1978 industrial accident and the injuries sustained thereby, the compensation insurance carrier (plaintiff State Insurance Fund) paid compensation benefits for treating his shoulder and head injuries. Now the plaintiff erroneously seeks reimbursement against the defendant on the grounds that pursuant to Section 69 the industrial injuries (both shoulder and head) should be added in some "additive analysis"

with the pre-existing conditions (left knee and low back) so as to require the Second Injury Fund to pay for 7/13th or 53.8% of the medical costs and temporary disability benefits incurred in treating the injured worker's shoulder problems caused by the industrial accident. Such a contention is contrary to the statute, and this Court's interpretation of what the statute requires.

Clearly, the statute requires a showing of how the prior incapacities have acted upon the current industrial injury to make the industrial impairment substantially greater than it would have been "but for" the previous incapacity:

(1) If any employee who has previously incurred a permanent incapacity . . . sustains an industrial injury . . . that results in permanent incapacity which is substantially greater than he would have incurred if he had not had the pre-existing incapacity, compensation and medical care . . . shall be awarded on the basis of the combined injuries, but the liability of of the employer for such compensation and medical care shall be for the industrial injury only. . .

Utah Code Ann., Section 35-1-69.

The plaintiff erroneously applies an additive analysis to the above statute to argue that the defendant ought to pay 7/13th of all the benefits flowing from the industrial injuries. Such an application is contrary to this Court's ruling in U. S. & G., supra, and Day's Market, supra. The plaintiff again misinterprets the ruling in Kincheloe v. Coca-Cola Bottling Co. of Ogden, 656 P.2d 440 (Utah 1982) to argue that the cause and effect is not important in showing how the industrial injury resulted in a permanent incapacity which is substantially greater

than it would have been "but for" the pre-existing condition.

The standard announced and applied in Ortega, is a simple additive analysis of the "substantially greater requirement," rather than a causal analysis. That is, under Ortega, it is immaterial whether the pre-existing condition causes the permanent incapacity resulting from the industrial injury to be greater than it otherwise would be . . . This analysis was recently confirmed in Kincheloe v. Coca-Cola Bottling Co. of Ogden, 656 P.2d 440 (1982) . . . Commenting on this point, the Utah Supreme Court stated:

Under the reasoning of Capitano, the fact that the 1980 injury is unrelated to the 1974 injury is not dispositive. Irrespective of any causal connection, the Second Injury Fund is to compensate one who sustains "permanent incapacity which is substantially greater than he would have incurred if he had not had the pre-existing incapacity." 656 P.2d 442 (note dropped, emphasis added).

Brief of Plaintiff/Appellant, Pages 7 & 8.

Kincheloe does not stand for such a proposition, nor does it confirm it. On the contrary, Kincheloe ruled that the employer's insurance carrier was not entitled to reimbursement because "it was reasonable for the law judge to conclude that plaintiff did not sustain "permanent incapacity which is substantially greater than he would have incurred if he had not had the pre-existing incapacity."  
Kincheloe held that the Second Injury Fund had no application where the Commission made such a finding supported by substantial evidence and reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom.

The plaintiff State Insurance Fund, the worker's compensation insurance carrier in this matter, continues to argue that a line of cases stand for an erroneous standard that the insurance

carriers ought to be reimbursed where the injured worker had some form of pre-existing condition even though the previous incapacity did not make the current industrial injury substantially greater than. Such an argument is not supported by Utah case law.

The purpose of the statute was obviously to require a "substantially greater than" test. This test continues to require a "but for" analysis, see Day's Market, Inc., supra, OR a "relationship or interrelationship" between the current industrial injury and all the prior incapacities to show whether the industrial incapacity is substantially greater than it would have been otherwise. Intermountain Health Care, Inc. v. Ortega, 562 P.2d 617 (Utah 1977). See also. Intermountain Smelting Corp. v. Capitano, 610 P.2d 334 (Utah 1980).

In Ortega this Court found a "relationship" between the industrial pain problems and the pre-existing psychiatric impairment to rule that such an "increase" in the industrial injury satisfies the substantially greater test. Capitano held that the combined "effects" or the "interrelationships" of both the previous condition and the industrial injury entitled the applicant to an award on the theory that the shifting of weight from the current injury of the right ankle to the prior Korean War injury of the left leg established an "interrelationship" between the two injuries to justify a finding that the previous injury adversely affected his industrial injury.

In White v. Industrial Commission, 604 P.2d 478 (Utah 1979) this Court set forth the method of apportioning liability in paying benefits once it was determined that the "substantially greater than" requirement under Utah Code Ann., Section 35-1-69 was met. In McPhie v. U. S. Steel Corp., 551 P.2d 504 (Utah 1976), this Court held that the defendant Second Injury Fund was responsible for a proportionate share of the liability for a permanent injury which could be "partially attributable" to a pre-existing condition. Regarding the apportionment of liability on death claims, the Court ruled that the statute creating the Second Injury Fund, Utah Code Ann., Section 35-1-68, does not allow for an apportionment of liability or reimbursement on death claims. Pittsburgh Testing Laboratory v. Keller, 657 P.2d 1367 (Utah 1982).

The more recent cases have clearly required a showing of "substantially greater than" in order to invoke liability against the defendant Second Injury Fund.

U. S. F. & G. v. Industrial Commission, supra, set forth the elements of entitlement under Utah Code Ann., Section 35-1-69 for pre-existing conditions: "Basically, those conditions are three in number: 1) (previous) incapacity . . . followed by 2) subsequent (industrial) injury . . . which is 3) substantially greater than that which would have been incurred had there been no pre-existing incapacity. . ." As the Court observed in Kincheloe v. Coca-Cola Bottling Co., supra, the fact that the prior injury is unrelated is not dispositive. However, the Second Injury Fund is to compensate only one who sustains permanent incapacity which is substantially greater than he would have had otherwise.

The requirement of showing "substantially greater than" is clearly stated in the Kincheloe decision:

"Under the reasoning of Capitano, the fact that the 1980 injury is unrelated to the 1974 injury is not dispositive. Irrespective of any causal connection, the Second Injury Fund is to compensate one who sustains "permanent incapacity which is substantially greater than he would have incurred if he had not had the pre-existing incapacity.

The law judge's primary reason for disallowing compensation from the Second Injury Fund is, however, proper reasoning for the ruling under the statute. . . . Emphasis Added.

Kincheloe v. Coca-Cola Bottling of Ogden, 656 P.2d 440 (Utah 1983)

Kincheloe further stated that where the Commission makes a specific finding that the cause of the applicant's need for benefits was from the industrial injury and that the pre-existing condition did not make the industrial injury substantially greater than it would have been "but for" the pre-existing condition, the Court should not upset such a finding where it is supported by substantial evidence and reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom. Kaiser Steel Corp. v. Monfredi, 613 P.2d 888 (Utah 1981).

In the case at bar, the Administrative Law Judge, acting in behalf of the Utah Industrial Commission, made a specific finding that the pre-existing conditions (left knee and low back) did not make the industrial injuries (left and right shoulder and head) substantially greater than would have been otherwise:

"This was a very complicated case . . . All of the back problems either pre-existed the 1978 (industrial) incident or were the result of a natural progressive degenerative problem thereafter. Since August 1978 (date of industrial accident) was the only bonafide disabling industrial injury the progressive degeneration of the back thereafter, rated at 5%, cannot be the basis of a recovery . . . As to the 5% impairment to"

back existing before August 1978 we have a more difficult question. The Administrative Law Judge finds that the applicant cannot recover from the Second Injury fund for the 5% impairment of the back as it existed prior to the August 1978 injury for three reasons:

1. . . . .

2. . . . .

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